
IN TH E UN ITE D S TA TE S D IS TRIC T C O URT
FO R TH E N O RTH E RN D IS TRIC T O F A L A B A M A
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N A V IGA TE A FFO RD A B L E
H O US IN G P A RTN E RS ,IN C .;
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C ase N o.:________________

C O M P L A IN T FO R D E C L A RA TO RY A N D IN JUN C TIV E RE L IE F

P laintiff N avigate A fford able H ou sing P artners,Inc.(“N avigate”) brings

this su itagainstthe United States D epartmentof H ou singand Urban D evelopment

(“H UD ”)and alleges as setforthbelow.

IN TRO D UC TIO N

1. N avigate brings this action pu rsu antto the Freed om of Information

A ct,as amend ed by the O P EN Government A ct of 200 7 (“FO IA ”),for the

principalpu rpose of compelling H UD ’s immed iate prod u ction of certain record s

mad e the su bject of two A u gu st 2014 FO IA requ ests. N avigate also seeks

d eclaratory, inju nctive, and other appropriate relief u nd er FO IA and other

applicable law.
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2. N avigate’s principalbu siness is project-based contractad ministration

for H UD . P eriod ically, H UD enters into a P erformance B ased A nnu al

C ontribu tions C ontract(a “P B A C C ”) with a third -party contractad ministrator

su ch as N avigate to assistin the managementof project-based Section 8 hou sing

contracts within astate.H UD willenterinto aP B A C C withone entity to serve as

project-based contractad ministratorforan entire state. B etween 2003 and 2005,

N avigate was award ed the P B A C C s for A labama,M ississippi,V irginia,and

C onnecticu t,and thereby became H UD ’s project-based contractad ministratorfor

those states.N avigate has continu ed to serve in thatrole withou tinterru ption.

3. A s d escribed in fu rtherd etailbelow,in 2011 and 2012,H UD sou ght

to re-award the P B A C C s and ,accord ingly,issu ed solicitations of applications from

N avigate and others interested in becoming contract ad ministrators. These

solicitations d o notappearto have been reasonably calcu lated to efficiently carry

ou tthe d u ties of H UD orto d o so atthe lowestavailable cost.A ccord ingly,these

solicitations were contraryto the pu blic interest.

4. A s also d escribed in fu rtherd etailbelow,in A u gu st2014,N avigate

su bmitted two FO IA requ ests to H UD seekingthe d isclosu re of d ocu ments relating

to the circu mstances su rrou nd ing,and the ju stification for,the 2011 and 2012

solicitations. H UD has improperly withheld alld ocu ments responsive to these

requ ests,failingto prod u ce even one d ocu ment.
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5. A s aresu ltof H UD ’s u nlawfu ld enialof N avigate’s FO IA requ ests,

N avigate seeks (a)ad eclaration thatthe record s sou ghtare su bjectto d isclosu re

u nd er FO IA ,(b) affirmative inju nctive relief requ iring H UD to prod u ce all

responsive record s,and (c) an award of reasonable attorneys’fees and other

litigation costs.

P A RTIE S A N D JURIS D IC TIO N

6. N avigate is anonprofitcorporation organized u nd erthe laws of the

State of A labama.N avigate’s office is located at500 O ffice P arkD rive,M ou ntain

B rook,A labama35223.

7 . H UD is an “agency”within the meaning assigned to thatterm in 5

U.S.C .§ 552(f)(1). H UD has possession and controlof the record s requ ested by

N avigate.

8 . The C ou rthas su bjectmatterju risd iction overthis action and personal

ju risd iction overH UD pu rsu antto 5 U.S.C .§ 552(a)(4)(B ). The C ou rtalso has

su bjectmatterju risd iction overthis action pu rsu antto 28 U.S.C .§ 1331.

9. V enu e is properu nd er5 U.S.C .§ 552(a)(4)(B )becau se N avigate has

its principalplace of bu siness within the N orthern D istrictof A labama. V enu e in

this d istrictis also properpu rsu antto 28 U.S.C .§ 1391 becau se asu bstantialpart

of the events or omissions premising N avigate’s claims occu rred within the

N orthern D istrictof A labama.
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FA C TUA L A L L E GA TIO N S

10. In Febru ary 2011,H UD issu ed an “invitation to bid ,”pu rsu antto

whichH UD solicited applications from entities seekingto be award ed one ormore

P B A C C s and thereby become contractad ministrator forone or more states. In

Ju ly 2011,H UD annou nced that42 of the P B A C C s had been award ed ,and that

N avigate was the su ccessfu lbid d erin six states.H owever,in A u gu st2011,H UD

cancelled many of the Ju ly 2011 contract award s,inclu d ing allsix of those

award ed to N avigate.

11. In M arch2012,H UD again sou ghtto award the P B A C C s.This time,

however,H UD imposed severe limits to eligibility to bid on these contracts.

Specifically,the 2012 solicitation provid ed thatH UD wou ld only consid er an

application from an ou t-of-state entity if there was no qu alified in-state applicant.

This limitation was imposed d espite H UD ’s express statement in the 2012

solicitation thatthe limitation was notrequ ired u nd erthe H ou singA ctof 1937 and

d espite the factthatthe limitation was notimposed in the 2011 solicitation orany

previou s solicitation— if it had been imposed , this limitation wou ld have

au tomatically eliminated the vast majority of su ccessfu l applicants from

contention.

12. P u tsimply,the M arch 2012 solicitation was calcu lated to eliminate

competition,and itappears to have been againstthe pu blic interestbecau se itd id
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not ensu re that the P B A C C s wou ld be award ed to the entity best su ited to

efficiently ad ministerH UD ’s project-based hou singassistance program orperform

contractad ministration d u ties atthe lowestcost.

13. N avigate and otherapplicants su ccessfu lly challenged the M arch2012

solicitation. See CMS Contract Mgmt. Servs. v. Mass. Hous. Fin. Agency,7 45

F.3d 137 9 (Fed .C ir.2014),cert. denied sub nom.,U.S. v. CMS Contract Mgmt.

Servs.,135 S.C t.18 42 (2015).H UD vacated the M arch2012 solicitation and ,to

d ate,has notissu ed anothersolicitation.

14. In A u gu st2014,in ord erto d iscoverinformation relatingto the 2011

and 2012 solicitations,N avigate mad e two FO IA requ ests (the “FO IA Requ ests”)

to H UD . Tru e and correctcopies of the FO IA Requ ests are attached hereto as

E xhibitA and B ,respectively.

15. The information sou ghtin the FO IA Requ ests wou ld have been u sefu l

in pu blicly revealing H UD ’s reasons for and ju stification behind cancelling the

Ju ly 2011 contract award s and eliminating competition in the M arch 2012

solicitation d espite the factthatthis wou ld lead to amu chless effective and more

costly means of contractad ministration. If H UD had respond ed to the FO IA

Requ ests as requ ired u nd er applicable law, the responsive information and

d ocu ments cou ld have been u sed to help ensu re that the P B A C C s wou ld be

award ed to the bestqu alified ,mostcost-efficientcontractad ministrators in the
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fu tu re,thu s promotingthe pu blic’s interestin the efficientu se of pu blic fu nd s and

in provid ingsafe and afford able pu blic hou sing.

16. H owever,H UD failed to prod u ce any record s in response to the FO IA

Requ ests orto ad vise N avigate thatithad d etermined record s shou ld be withheld

u nd er any exemptions provid ed for in 5 U.S.C .§ 552(b). H UD ’s failu re to

prod u ce any record s or otherwise su bstantively respond to the FO IA Requ ests

constitu tes an u nju stified constru ctive d enialof the FO IA Requ ests.

17 . O n Ju ly 13,2015,N avigate appealed H UD ’s d enialof the FO IA

Requ ests.A tru e and correctcopy of N avigate’s ad ministrative appealis attached

hereto as E xhibitC 1.

18 . O n A u gu st17 ,2015,the H UD O ffice of GeneralC ou nselgranted

N avigate’s appeal,d eterminingthatH UD was “in violation of the [FO IA ] statu te”

becau se of its failu re to timely respond to the FO IA Requ ests.The H UD O ffice of

GeneralC ou nsel“remand ed [the FO IA Requ ests] to the FO IA liaison officerto be

processed ”and that“responsive d ocu ments shou ld be sentto [N avigate] as soon as

possible.”A tru e and correctcopyof this letteris attached hereto as E xhibitD .

19. Shortly thereafter,in September2015,N avigate’s cou nselreceived a

telephone callfrom Steve M artin,D irector of the A ssisted H ou sing O versight

D ivision in the O ffice of M u ltifamily A ssetM anagementand P ortfolio O versight

1 The letteris incorrectlyd ated Ju ly13,2014.
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u nd erthe O ffice of H ou sing atH UD ,and Y vette V iviani,aB ranch C hief in the

A ssisted H ou singO versightD ivision. D u ringthis call,M artin and V ivianistated

thatwhen they received N avigate’s Ju ly 2015 appeal,they were u naware of the

FO IA Requ ests.They ad mitted thatH UD had been d erelictin its d u ty to respond

to the FO IA Requ ests and thatthe FO IA Requ ests had “fallen throu ghthe cracks.”

M artin and V ivianipromised to have theirteam look throu gh H UD ’s old files in

ord er to find d ocu ments responsive to the FO IA Requ ests and agreed to have

period ic telephonic conferences with N avigate’s cou nselto give them progress

reports on the FO IA Requ ests u ntilthe responsive d ocu ments were prod u ced .

D u ring this call,M artin and V ivianitold N avigate to commu nicate with them

regard ingthe FO IA Requ ests.

20. In the ensu ing weeks, M artin and V iviani cond u cted bi-weekly

telephonic conferences withN avigate’s cou nselto d iscu ss H UD ’s responses to the

FO IA Requ ests. D u ring these calls,M artin and V ivianiconsistently reported to

N avigate thatH UD was making progress in its efforts to respond to the FO IA

Requ ests and thatd ocu ments wou ld be prod u ced soon. H owever,d espite M artin

and V iviani’s repeated statements to this effect,no d ocu ments were prod u ced .

21. For example,on N ovember 19,2015,M artin and V ivianiassu red

N avigate’s cou nselthatH UD wou ld prod u ce some of the d ocu ments responsive to

the FO IA Requ ests d u ring the week of N ovember 30,2015. O n D ecember 3,
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2015,when no d ocu ments had been prod u ced as promised ,M artin and V iviani

claimed the d ocu ments were stillu nd erreview and thatN avigate wou ld be u pd ated

byD ecember10,2015.N avigate received no su chu pd ate.

22. O n D ecember 16,2015,after more than three months of calls and

emails,V ivianiabru ptly told N avigate’s cou nselvia emailthatshe and M artin

were goingto “d iscontinu e [their] bi-weekly calls to [N avigate’s cou nsel] relating

to the [FO IA Requ ests],”effective immed iately. A tru e and correctcopy of this

emailis attached hereto as E xhibitE .

23. D espite the factthatH UD d etermined thatits d enialof the FO IA

Requ ests was u nwarranted and u nlawfu l(see Ex.D ),to this d ay H UD has not

prod u ced even one d ocu mentresponsive to the FO IA Requ ests.

C O UN T I
D eclaratoryJu dgment–Failu re to P rodu ce Records (5U.S .C .§ 552)

24. N avigate ad opts and incorporates by reference here allof its foregoing

allegations.

25. FO IA requ ires that,u pon properrequ estford isclosu re of record s,an

agency “shallmake the record s promptly available to any person.” 5 U.S.C .§

552(a)(3).

26. The d ocu ments mad e the su bjectof N avigate’s FO IA Requ ests are

agencyrecord s within H UD ’s control.

27 . N avigate properlyrequ ested the prod u ction of said d ocu ments.
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28 . N avigate is entitled by law to obtain copies of the d ocu ments mad e

the su bjectof its FO IA Requ ests.

29. H UD improperlywithheld the d ocu ments in violation of FO IA .

30. N avigate requ ests a d eclaratory ju d gmentthatH UD has violated

FO IA and thatN avigate is entitled to immed iately receive the d ocu ments mad e the

su bjectof the FO IA Requ ests.

C O UN T II
Inju nctive Relief –Failu re to P rodu ce Records (5U.S .C .§ 552)

31. N avigate ad opts and incorporates by reference here allof its foregoing

allegations.

32. Und er FO IA ,this C ou rt has “ju risd iction to enjoin [H UD ] from

withhold ing agency record s and to ord er the prod u ction of any agency record s

improperlywithheld from [N avigate].”5U.S.C .§ 552(a)(4)(B ).

33. The d ocu ments mad e the su bjectof N avigate’s FO IA Requ ests are

agencyrecord s within H UD ’s control.

34. N avigate properlyrequ ested prod u ction of said d ocu ments.

35. H UD improperlywithheld the d ocu ments in violation of FO IA .

36. N avigate requ ests that,pu rsu antto 5 U.S.C .§ 552(a)(4)(B ),the C ou rt

enteran O rd erenjoining H UD from withhold ingthe d ocu ments mad e the su bject

of the FO IA Requ ests and requ iringH UD to immed iately prod u ce said d ocu ments

to N avigate.
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RE Q UE S T FO R RE L IE F

In lightof the foregoing,N avigate respectfu lly asks this C ou rttake the

followingactions:

A . D eclare that H UD ’s failu re to provid e responsive d ocu ments is

u nlawfu lu nd erFO IA ;

B . Enter an affirmative inju nction d irecting H UD to prod u ce all

requ ested record s to N avigate,as provid ed in 5 U.S.C .§ 552(a)(4)(B ),u nred acted

and withou tfu rtherd elay;

C . A ward N avigate its costs and reasonable attorneys’fees in this action

as provid ed u nd er5 U.S.C .§ 552(a)(4)(E),as amend ed by the O P EN Government

A ct;

D . Exped ite this action in every way pu rsu antto 5 U.S.C .§ 552 and 28

U.S.C .§ 1657 ;and

E. Grantsu ch otherand fu rtherrelief as this C ou rtmay d eem ju stand

proper.

Respectfu llysu bmitted on this 22nd d ayof A pril2016.

/s/ Russell Rutherford
Giles G.P erkins
Ru ssellJ.Ru therford
C ou nselfor N avigate A fford able H ou sing
P artners,Inc.

O F C O UN S E L :
A d ams and Reese L L P
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1901 6thA venu e N orth,Su ite 3000
B irmingham,A labama35203
Telephone:205-250-5000
Facsimile:205-250-5034
Email:ru ssell.ru therford @ arlaw.com

P laintiff herebyrequ ests thatthe C lerkof C ou rtmailacopyof the S u mmons
and C omplaintbycertified mailto:

Joyce W hite V ance
United States A ttorney’s O ffice
18 01 4thA venu e N orth
B irmingham,A labama35203

L orettaE.L ynch
O ffice of the A ttorney General
950 P ennsylvaniaA venu e,N W
W ashington,D C 20530-0001

Ju lián C astro
U.S.D epartmentof H ou singand Urban D evelopment
451 7 thStreetSW
W ashington,D C 20410

Case 2:16-cv-00652-KOB   Document 1   Filed 04/22/16   Page 11 of 11


